Case No. 2009AP003075

RECEIVED

06-23-2011

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

State of Wisconsin

In The Supreme Court

State of Wisconsin

Plaintiff-Respondent, v.

Basil E. Ryan, Jr.,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

An appeal from a judgment in Case No. 2008-CX-000004 on November 3, 2009 in Milwaukee County, Judge Thomas R. Cooper, Branch 28 Which was affirmed by the Court of Appeals On January 11, 2011

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

Dan Biersdorf, I.D. # 1009456
E. Kelly Keady, I.D. #1048351
BIERSDORF & ASSOCIATES, S.C.
250 East Wisconsin Avenue, Eighteenth Floor
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202
(866) 339-7242
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

Dated: June 22, 2011

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Can a defendant be found guilty under the forfeiture statutes on the grounds of judicial estoppel where Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner made no statement to a court?

The Court of Appeals answered in the affirmative.

The Circuit Court answered in the affirmative.

Did the undisputed facts on the record establish that if judicial estoppel had not been applied, Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner neither owned nor controlled the barge to be liable under the forfeiture statutes?

The Court of Appeals answered in the affirmative.

The Circuit Court accepted Judge Foley's opinion on liability as a matter of law.

If judicial estoppel had not been applied, is there a dispute as to material fact that precludes summary judgment as to whether Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner owned or controlled the barge to be liable under the forfeiture statutes?

The Court of Appeals answered in the affirmative.

The Circuit Court accepted Judge Foley's opinion on liability as a matter of law.

Can a defendant be found guilty under the forfeiture statutes by summary judgment motion?

The Court of Appeals answered in the affirmative.

The Circuit Court answered in the affirmative.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Given that this is a complex forfeiture where Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner was charged and convicted without a trial, Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner believes oral argument is necessary to answer any questions the Court may have.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

When the facts are undisputed, this Court decides the remaining question of law independent of earlier court decisions. <u>Ball v. District No.</u>

4, Area Bd. of Vocational, Technical and Adult Educ., 117 Wis.2d 529, 345 N.W.2d 389 (Wis.,1984).

Determining the elements and considerations involved before invoking the doctrine of judicial estoppel are questions of law which this Court decides independently and without deference. Schaeffer v. State

Personnel Comm'n, 150 Wis.2d 132, 138, 441 N.W.2d 292, 295

(Ct.App.1989).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

This is a forfeiture action pursuant to a complaint by Plaintiff State of Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources ("State") charging Basil Ryan ("Ryan") with violations under Chapter 30 alleging he owned a barge and placed it at the bottom of the Menomonee River. Although Ryan denied the allegations, which effectively was a not guilty plea, the State brought a summary judgment motion moving the Trial Court to find Ryan guilty of the violations enumerated in the complaint as matter of law on the grounds of judicial estoppel. The Trial Court granted the State's summary judgment motion leaving only the penalty/remedy phase of this forfeiture action where the circuit court imposed a penalty of \$37,691.25 under the forfeiture statute against Ryan.

Basil E. Ryan, Jr. ("Ryan") was the previous owner and one the occupants of the property located at 260 North 12th Street, in the City of Milwaukee, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin southwest of the Milwaukee Interchange ("Property") (Ryan had sold the Property to 260 North 12 Street LLC before Petitioner-Respondent State of Wisconsin Department of Transportation ("DOT") took the Property through eminent domain ("DOT Taking")).

¹ Record ("R")-1, Summons and Complaint.

² <u>See</u> Appendix ("APP") at APP-44, letter decision by Judge Foley and order signed by Judge Cooper on January 27, 2009; <u>see</u> also R-36.

The barge at issue in this case is a spud barge that is partially sunk in the Menomonee River adjacent to the Property.⁴

The title to the barge is not under Ryan's name, nor under any entity that he is related to.

The title to the barge is under KO OP Marine, Inc. ⁵ The registered agent for KO OP Marine, Inc. is Richard Schumacher. ⁶ The owner of the barge is a corporation controlled by Richard Schumacher ("Schumacher"). ⁷ Schumacher approached Ryan's company, B.E. Ryan Enterprises, Inc. (hereinafter known as "Corporation") about storing the barge for him by docking it to the property at 26 N. 12th St. which was the property from which the Corporation conducted its storage business. ⁸

The Corporation conducted business under two trade names

("Vehicle Towing" and "Ryan Marina") from time to time as well as its

corporate name. Vehicle Towing and Ryan Marina were not independent

legal entities. Any revenues received or expenses incurred by Vehicle

Towing and Ryan Marina were wholly included in the operations of the

Corporation and the tax return of the Corporation. The Corporation was in

³ See APP-47, Judgment dated November 3, 2009.

⁴ <u>See</u> Trial Exhibit 1, a picture of the Property with an arrow pointing at the barge and APP-15 to 17, pictures labeled "Exhibit B" and "Exhibit C" to Plaintiff's Complaint.

⁵ <u>See</u> APP-36, Second Affidavit of Basil Ryan at ¶2 and at Exhibit A, KO OP Marine, Inc. title document (at APP-39).

⁶ Id., at Exhibit B (APP-40).

⁷ See APP-32, Affidavit of Basil Ryan at \P 3.

 $^{^{8}}$ <u>Id</u>.

⁹ Id.

¹⁰ See APP-32, Affidavit of Basil Ryan at ¶ 3.

the business of storing vehicles under the name of Vehicle Towing and collected storage charges for providing this service.¹¹

The Corporation agreed to store the barge for Schumacher as part of its business of storing vehicles. 12 Storage charges for the barge were paid to the Corporation by Schumacher in exchange for the storage service provided by the Corporation. 13 After a period of time Schumacher quit paying the barge storage fees to the Corporation.¹⁴

When the barge storage fees went unpaid by Schumacher, the Corporation maintained possession of the barge and corresponding lien rights for the unpaid storage fees. 15 The corporation has never foreclosed its lien rights against the barge to gain title to it. 16 To the best of Basil Ryan's knowledge, ownership of the barge still belongs to Schumacher and KO OP Marine, Inc. 17 More important, Basil Ryan has never personally owned or controlled the barge in any way. 18

Ryan has never had any relationship to the barge other than as an employee of the Corporation.¹⁹

¹² See APP-32, Affidavit of Ryan at ¶¶ 3-5.

13 Id.

14 Id.

15 Id.

 $^{^{16}}$ $\overline{\text{Id}}$.

From 1999 until May 2005, Ryan's employee (who then became an independent contractor) Brian Webster personally supervised the storage of the barge on a day to day basis. ²⁰ Under Webster's supervision, the barge was secured to a three to four foot thick concrete wall by two tow trucks with leg extensions and four chains. ²¹ Webster monitored the barge as part of securing and storing the barge. ²² After a snow melt or three or four days of heavy rain, Webster pumped water out of the barge. ²³ Also, Ryan would adjust the chains as needed for any buoyancy concerns. ²⁴

It is undisputed that the barge never sunk under Webster's care through all the years it was stored by the Corporation (through May/June 2005)²⁵, and it was still afloat through July 2005 when the DOT took over possession of the Property.

The Department of Transportation targeted the Ryan property for acquisition by eminent domain for the Marquette Interchange project. By filing the Award of Damages recorded March 30, 2005, the DOT took title to Ryan's property.²⁶

-

²⁰ See R-91, Transcript from October 7, 2009 at pp. 33-4.

²¹ See R-90, Transcript from October 6, 2009 at pp. 44-5, 49.

 $[\]frac{1}{10}$ at p. 56.

²³ See R-90, Transcript from October 6, 2009 at p. 57.

²⁴ <u>Id</u>., at pp. 57-8.

²⁵ See R-90, Transcript from October 6, 2009 at p. 67.

²⁶ See R-81 at Trial Exhibit 2, Award of Damages recorded March 30, 2005.

Because he did not have a comparable replacement property to move his storage business to, Ryan stayed on the Property after title transferred to the DOT.

On July 1, 2005, the DOT filed its Petition for Writ of Assistance to remove Ryan from the Property in *State v. 260 North 12th Street LLC et. al.*, Milwaukee County Circuit Court File 2005CV005593 ("Writ Case"). On or about July 14, 2005, the circuit court held a two day hearing on the DOT's Petition. The sole issue to be tried at the hearing was whether the DOT made available a comparable replacement property.²⁷

The issue of the ownership of the barge was never litigated in the Writ Case.

On or about July 19, 2005, the trial court issued its Order for Writ of Assistance ("Writ Order"). ²⁸ The Writ Order stated,

"IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, that all Respondents will remove all of their personal property, including the barge, and will vacate the premises located at 260 North 12th Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin..."²⁹

We're back on the record in the State versus 260 North 12th Street again. And as I think it's clear from the record made in chambers with the lawyers and parties the sole remaining issue for resolution, hopefully this afternoon, is whether or not the State has complied with 32.05(8) which is a requirement that they provide a comparable replacement property for Mr. Ryan and his business entities in order to secure a Writ of Assistance and I believe that that's the sole issue.

²⁷ In fact, the trial court in the Writ Case stated:

See APP-65-89 excerpts from the Transcript of July 14, 2005 hearing in *State v. 260 North 12th Street LLC et. al.*, Milwaukee County Circuit Court File 2005CV005593 ("Writ Case") at APP-88 (p. 61 of the transcript) at 1. 11-21, as well as APP-76 and APP- 87 (pp. 49 and 60 from the same transcript).

²⁸ See R-81 at Trial Exhibit 12, Order for Writ of Assistance dated July 19, 2005.

 $^{^{29}}$ Id., at p. 2 of the order.

Shortly after the issuance of the Writ Order, Ryan's attorney Alan Marcuvitz ("Marcuvitz") contacted the DOT to store personal property, including the barge³⁰, pursuant to Administrative Rule COMM 202.52(1) (d)³¹. Marcuvitz testified at Trial Court that:

> I wound up in a conversation with the DOT about where did they want to store the barge that was moored on the edge of the property during the 12-month period, and it was the State that decided it was too expensive to try to move it and that they would just store it right there it was for the period of time that they were responsible to provide storage.³²

Marcuvitz also testified that he made this agreement with either the DOT's Larry Stein or Del Dettman on or about July 20, 2005. 33 Stein could not recall such a conversation. ³⁴ Dettman did not testify. Since Ryan was denied a trial, none of this testimony was heard by a jury.

Although the parties dispute whether the DOT agreed to store the barge for the 12 month period from July 20, 2005 to July 20, 2006, Administrative Rule COMM 202.52(1) (d) states nothing about a requirement that the DOT has to agree to store the property.³⁵

A person who claims a moving payment based upon actual and reasonable cost shall be eligible for the following expenses...(d) Storage of personal property, except on property owned by a displaced person, for a period not to exceed 12 months unless a longer period is determined necessary by the agency.

³⁵ Administrative COMM.202.52(1)(d) states:

 ³⁰ See R-81 at Trial Exhibit 15, DOT email to Marcuvitz dated July 20, 2005.
 31 Administrative COMM.202.52(1)(d) states:

³² See R-90, Transcript from October 6, 2009 at pp. 79, 1. 13-20.

³⁴ See R-91, Transcript from October 7, 2009 at p. 10.

Even so, the following facts are not in dispute:

- the barge remained on the Property until it partially sunk into Menomonee River on July 13, 2006 which is consistent with the DOT knowing it was responsible for storing the barge;
- the DOT never instructed Ryan to remove the barge during the 12 month period of time between from July 20, 2005 to July 20, 2006 which is consistent with the DOT knowing it was responsible for storing the barge;
- the DOT kept some of the vehicles that Ryan stored on the property on the property during the same 12 month period of time between mid from July 20, 2005 to July 20, 2006³⁶ which is consistent with the DOT storing the barge on the property too;
- the DOT moved and paid for the storage of some of Ryan's other personal property (office equipment, furniture, records and fixtures) the during the same 12 month period of time between from July 20, 2005 to July 20, 2006³⁷ which is consistent with the DOT storing the barge; and,

A person who claims a moving payment based upon actual and reasonable cost shall be eligible for the following expenses...(d) Storage of personal property, except on property owned by a displaced person, for a period not to exceed 12 months unless a longer period is determined necessary by the agency.

³⁶ See R-81 at Trial Exhibit Trial Exhibit 14.

³⁷ See R-81 at Trial Exhibit Trial Exhibit 15; see also R-89, Transcript from October 5, 2009 at pp. 27, 32, 40, 76-7.

even the DNR acknowledged that Marcuvitz told them that the DOT had responsibility to relocate personal property including the barge but "the State did not have a replacement location[.] [T]hat is why the barge remained where it was."38

None of the above evidence was ever considered by a jury, because Ryan was denied the right to a trial when the trial granted the summary judgment motion on judicial estoppel grounds.

It is also undisputed that the DOT agreed that in its application of moving and storing property that it has a duty and obligation to ensure that all personal property is safe, secure, and not destroyed.³⁹ The DOT representative agreed that this same duty and obligation applies to personal property that the DOT stored on the Property. 40 Again this is consistent with the DOT knowing it was responsible for storing the barge.

During the 12 month period after the DOT gained possession of Ryan's real property, neither Ryan nor Webster had access to the barge because they had been evicted and the DOT maintained the Property as a staging ground for the Marquette Interchange Project.

As for the DOT's maintenance of the barge, despite being told otherwise⁴¹, the DOT never pumped any water from the barge that naturally

³⁸ <u>See</u> R-90, Transcript from October 6, 2009 at p. 10, l. 11-20.

³⁹ See R-89, Transcript from October 5, 2009 at p. 80.

⁴¹ See R-90, Transcript from October 6, 2009 at p. 153.

accumulated in its hull. 42 Moreover, the DOT cut the chains and removed the two tow trucks that had secured the barge to the cement wall for years. 43 Again, none of this evidence was ever heard by a jury because Ryan was denied the right to a trial when the trial granted the summary judgment motion on estoppel grounds.

On or about July 13, 2006, the barge partially sank into the Menomonee River and became moored on the river bed.

This leads to the second factual dispute. Ryan presented evidence that since the chains, tow trucks, and water pumping maintenance had kept the barge floating on the Menomonee River for over fifteen years, it was the DOT's cutting the chains, removing the tow trucks, and failure to pump water that accumulated in the barge is what caused the barge to sink.⁴⁴

The State wrung its hands of any blame by presenting its own expert, former DOT employee, Don Reinbold. Reinbold testified that he was qualified to testify in this matter because he was bridge and highway engineer. He also testified that he never inspected the Property or the barge and based his opinion *solely* on pictures. ⁴⁵ Despite the more than fifteen years of fact otherwise, Reinbold testified that the tow trucks were too light

⁴² See R-89, Transcript from October 5, 2009 at p. 37.

⁴³ Id., at p.23, 1. 9-17.

^{44&}lt;u>See</u> R-90, Transcript from October 6, 2009 at pp. 59, 117, & 123; see also APP-33, 34, & 37

⁴⁵ See R-89, Transcript from October 5, 2009 at p. 48.

to secure the barge.⁴⁶ No jury ever heard the cross examination of Reinbold because Ryan was denied the right to a trial when the trial granted the summary judgment motion on estoppel grounds.

The DNR did not investigate who owned the barge or who was responsible for it being partially sunk and resting on the bed of the Menomonee River. 47

After dismissing without prejudice a similar action the year before, on or about February 4, 2008 the DNR served a complex forfeiture Summons and Complaint against Ryan for alleged violations of Wis. Stat. § 30.10(2), § 30.12(1)(a), and § 30.292(2). The Summons provides in pertinent part:

A complaint, copy of which is attached, having been filed with the court accusing BASIL E. RYAN, JR. of the offense of "unlawfully placing and maintaining an obstruction in the form of a sunken barge o the bed of the Menomonee River, which is a navigable stream, in violation of Wis. Stat § 30.10(2),

You, Basil E. Ryan, Jr. are therefore summoned and required to appear before the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County at the Courthouse, 901 North Ninth Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, to answer said complaint on the 17th day of March, 2008, at 9:15 in the a.m., and in case of your failure to appear, judgment may be rendered against you according to the demand of the complaint.⁴⁸

The Summons also required Ryan to appear before the court as in a criminal matter.

_

⁴⁸ See APP-1, Summons and Complaint.

⁴⁶ <u>Id</u>., at p. 44.

⁴⁷ See R-90, Transcript from October 6, 2009 at p. 15.

On May 6, 2008, the DNR filed and served a summary motion on the issue of liability. The grounds for the motion were that Ryan was judicially estopped from arguing that he was not the owner of the barge. At the summary judgment motion on liability, the DOT argued that three pieces of evidence established Basil Ryan's ownership:

- a business relocation questionnaire;⁴⁹
- the order for writ of assistance in the Writ Case assistance in State v. 260 North 12th Street, LLC, Ryan Management, LLC, B.E. Ryan Enterprises, Inc. d/b/a Vehicle Towing, Irish Stone and Rock CO. (Trade Name of B.E. Ryan, Jr.), Basil E. Ryan Jr. d/b/a Ryan marina, et al., Milwaukee County Case No. 05-CV-5593, filed July 1, 2005 (the "Writ Case")⁵⁰, and
- a letter from Basil Ryan's previous attorney, Alan Marcuvitz.⁵¹

It must be noted that the State's witness (Hutnick), who offered an affidavit concerning the unsigned questionnaire, did not verify that this is Basil Ryan's writing on the document. Ryan testified that the writing was not his handwriting and the first time he saw the document was in this litigation. 52 Again, no jury ever heard this evidence.

⁴⁹ See APP-23, business relocation questionnaire.

 $[\]overline{\text{See}}$ APP-11, order from the Writ Case.

⁵¹ See APP-26, Marcuvitz letter

⁵² See APP-34, Ryan Affidavit at ¶13.

In paragraph 12 of its decision, the Court of Appeals incorrectly stated that "Ryan affirmatively asserted ownership in the barge via the Business Relocation Questionnaire". However, the unsigned questionnaire predated the Writ Case. 53 According to the DOT, the March 2005 questionnaire was used to "facilitate relocation efforts"; it was not a part of a pleading or motion Ryan represented to the court in the Writ Case. 54 In fact, the March 2005 questionnaire even predated the Writ Case which was not commenced until July 1, 2005. There is no evidence on the record that Ryan took the position that he owned the barge in the Writ Case other than the trial court's mistake in its order discussed below.

The Writ Order states that "all Respondents will remove all their personal property, including the barge..."55 Recalling the fact that the issue of barge ownership was not litigated in the Writ Case, the language in the Writ Order merely provides removal instructions for personal property following court's resolution of the issue of possession of the real property, which was the only issue actually litigated in the Writ Case.

In the present case, the State, the Trial Court, and the Court of Appeals relied on this language to claim that Ryan's ownership of the barge was established in the Writ Case by judicial estoppel. However, in the

⁵³ See Record at R-12, Affidavit of Margaret Hutnik at ¶ 6 who alleges the questionnaire was provided to her in March 2005 however the Writ case was not even filed until July

⁵⁵ See APP-11, order from the Writ Case (specifically p.2 of the order at APP-12).

appeal of the Writ Case, the State took the total opposite position. In the appeal, the State claimed the ownership of the barge was never established in the Writ Case: ⁵⁶

the circuit court in this case [the Writ Case] did not make a finding that Ryan was the owner of the barge. The court merely <u>implied</u> Ryan owned the barge at including it as part of the personal property the respondents were ordered to remove. The ownership of the barge was not an adjudicated fact deserving of any preclusive effect. If another court were to give that language preclusive effect on the issue of ownership of the barge, Ryan should challenge that court's decision directly.⁵⁷

Again, the State even agrees that ownership of the barge was not an issue in the Writ Case and the language in the Writ Order concerning the barge should not be given preclusive effect.

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