## **RECEIVED** 07-12-2011

### STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COUR

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2009AP003075

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BASIL E. RYAN, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CASE NO. 2008-CX-4 BY JUDGE THOMAS COOPER ON NOVEMBER 3, 2009

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT STATE OF WISCONSIN

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

JOANNE F. KLOPPENBURG Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1012239

For Plaintiff-Respondent State of Wisconsin

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-9227 (608) 267-2250 (Fax) kloppenburgjf@doj.state.wi.us

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

### **ARGUMENT**

The lower courts properly ruled that Ryan failed to create any disputes of material fact as to his liability for the sunken barge, that judicial estoppel barred Ryan, who had claimed ownership and control of the barge in a previous case when doing so would benefit him, from disowning the barge in this case when it became his liability, and that summary judgment is allowed by statute in this ch. 30 case.

I. THIS COURT REVIEWS THE CIRCUIT COURT'S SUMMARY JUDGMENT DECISION, AND WHETHER JUDICIAL ESTOPPEL AND SUMMARY JUDGMENT PROPERLY APPLY, DE NOVO.

This Court reviews a motion for summary judgment de novo, using the same methodology as the trial court and valuing its decision. *State v. Town of Linn*, 205 Wis. 2d 426, 434, 556 N.W.2d 394 (Ct. App. 1996).

Summary judgment is required "if the pleadings . . . together with [any] affidavits . . . show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Wis. Stat. § 802.08(2). The court looks first to the complaint to see if a cause of action is stated. If it is, it examines the moving party's affidavits, if any, to see if they show the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. If that showing is made, the court examines the opposing party's affidavits, if any, to see if a defense is raised or a factual issue exists. If no defense is successfully shown and no factual issue exists, summary judgment for the moving party is granted.

While the invocation of judicial estoppel is discretionary, this Court reviews de novo whether the facts satisfy the elements of judicial estoppel. *Olson v. Darlington Mut. Ins. Co.*, 2006 WI App 204, ¶3, 296 Wis. 2d 716, 723 N.W.2d 713 (citing *Salveson v. Douglas County*, 2001 WI 100, ¶38, 245 Wis. 2d 497, 630 N.W.2d 182) ("Whether to invoke judicial estoppel is left to the discretion of the circuit court. . . . A reviewing court determines de novo, however, whether the elements of judicial estoppel apply to the facts . . . .").

Whether summary judgment may be used in this ch. 30 enforcement action is also a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *See State v. Hyndman*, 170 Wis. 2d 198, 205, 488 N.W.2d 111 (Ct. App. 1992) ("Whether sec.

802.08, Stats. (summary judgment) is applicable to a criminal proceeding via sec. 972.11 is a question of law that this court decides without deference to the trial court.").

# II. RYAN DID NOT ESTABLISH AS UNDISPUTED THAT SOMEONE ELSE OWNED THE BARGE IN AND SINCE 2005-2006.

Ryan asserts without any basis that he established as undisputed someone else's ownership and control of the barge (Ryan Br.34-5). The summary judgment record refutes his assertion, and the court of appeals properly rejected his assertion as unsupported by any competent evidence.

On summary judgment, in his first affidavit, Ryan stated that someone else did own the barge at one time, but that Ryan had since <u>controlled</u> the barge and kept that person from taking the barge away, and that Ryan did so as an employee of his corporate entities. R24; P-Ap.31-35. Notably, Ryan's assertion of <u>control</u> (reasserted at Ryan Br.9, "[Ryan's] Corporation maintained <u>possession</u> of the barge" since the barge's prior owner stopped paying storage fees (emphasis added)) would have sufficed to establish as undisputed his responsibility for the barge when it was afloat and his liability for the barge when it sank, had the court not granted summary judgment based on judicial estoppel.

After the court granted partial summary judgment, ruling that Ryan was judicially estopped from making the defense that he or his corporate entities did not own or control the barge, Ryan submitted a second affidavit in support of his motion for reconsideration, to which he attached a certificate of documentation (erroneously called a title by Ryan, Ryan Br.8), which showed that KO OP Marine, Inc. owned the barge in 1996 and which expired in April 1997. R40:6; P-Ap.39. This certificate does not in any way establish that someone other than Ryan or his

corporate entities owned, possessed, and controlled the barge in and since 2005/2006 (and Ryan tellingly cites to nothing else in the record to establish that Ryan did not own the barge). As shown below, the competent evidence produced to the court established quite the contrary.

Ш. RYAN DID NOT ESTABLISH DISPUTES OF MATERIAL FACT AT SUMMARY JUDGMENT OR ANY CONTRARY COMPETENT EVIDENCE AT THE REMEDIES HEARING AS TO HIS OWNERSHIP, POSSESSION AND CONTROL OF THE BARGE, AS TO THE CAUSE OF ITS SINKING, OR AS TO HIS **PERSONAL** LIABILITY FOR THE SUNKEN BARGE.

Ryan asserts as fact or argument that DOT was in charge of the barge in 2005/2006 as a matter of law and promise to his attorney, that DOT caused the barge to sink when it removed two pick-up trucks tied to the barge with chains or cables, and that he could not be personally liable because he was only an employee of his corporate entities. None of his arguments has any basis in the law or the record.

A. DOT had no legal obligation to, and did not, take control of the barge or its storage.

Ryan continues to contend both that he does not own or control the barge, and that he does and DOT was responsible for storing it as part of the eminent domain transaction during the time that it sank (Ryan Br.9, 12). As shown below, the lower courts correctly rejected the former argument under the doctrine of judicial estoppel. As shown in this section, the law that Ryan cites provides no support for the latter argument of DOT responsibility,

nor do the undisputed facts on summary judgment. In addition, the evidence that came in at the remedies hearing only confirmed the absence of DOT control.

1. No law imposed an obligation on DOT to take possession or control of, or to store or to pay to store, Ryan's barge.

The law on which Ryan hangs his hat is titled "Relocation Assistance" (Wis. Admin. Code ch. COMM 202), and more specifically, "Standard for actual and reasonable moving expense" (Wis. Admin. Code § COMM 202.52). Nowhere does this law obligate DOT to take control of and store property that must be moved; rather it obligates DOT to reimburse a person for the "actual and reasonable cost" of "[s]torage of personal property . . . for a period not to exceed 12 months." Wis. Admin. Code § COMM 202.52(1) and 202.52(1)(d).

The provisions cited above obligate DOT to pay storage costs of personal property for up to one year, § COMM 202.52, upon the submission of claims for reimbursement of storage charges under Wis. Stat. § 32.20. Ryan has yet to identify any law authorizing or requiring DOT to jump over the claims procedure set forth in the Code and to take control of the barge and store it for Ryan where Ryan left it. The law is expressly to the contrary.

First, the barge was not eligible for relocation assistance because it was not part of an operating business under Wis. Admin. Code § COMM 202.56. R12:2.

Second, the barge was not eligible for relocation assistance because it was not on real property, and so it was not eligible as personal property under Wis. Admin. Code § COMM 202.52. Section COMM 202.52(1)(d)

addresses "Storage of Personal Property;" § COMM 202.01(30) defines personal property as "tangible property located on real property;" and § COMM 202.01(34) defines real property as "land and improvements on and to the land." The barge was never on real property as defined by the Code, and so it was not personal property eligible for assistance under the Code. *See* R89:84 (noting the problem was that the barge was not on the site but in the river).

Third, even if the barge were eligible for relocation assistance, the only claims allowed under ch. COMM 202 are claims for <u>reimbursement</u> for moving or storage expenses already incurred.

Ryan never submitted any moving expense claim for moving and storing the barge because he never moved or stored it. R89:82. Ryan never obtained relocation assistance for the barge (R12:2) after DOT acquired the real property adjacent to which the barge was moored. DOT witnesses testified at the remedies hearing that they might have considered helping Ryan pay to store his barge regardless of the absence of any legal obligation to do so, but Ryan never submitted such a request. R89:11-12, 78, 82; R91:14-15, 24, 30.

DOT witnesses also testified that DOT did pay a contractor directly for moving Ryan's personal property from buildings on the real property. But DOT did so only because Ryan had refused to move the property himself, DOT needed the property for the interchange work, and Ryan refused to pay the bills. R89:26-28, 30-31, 73-74, 77-78, 81.

One DOT witness testified that DOT is obligated to ensure that personal property on acquired real property is secure (Ryan Br:14), but she expressly declined to extend that obligation to the barge. R89:85; R-Ap.174.

In sum, Ryan's assertion that there is law that supports his affirmative defense of DOT control is without merit.

2. Ryan's attorney's advising Ryan that DOT was nevertheless responsible for the barge was unsubstantiated hearsay on summary judgment and unsupported by any law or evidence of agreement the remedies hearing.

Ryan contends that his attorney advised him that DOT took, or was obligated to take, control of the barge for one year from July 19, 2005, so DOT is responsible for the sunken barge. Ryan never produced any evidence of such an agreement to support the hearsay statements of his attorney, and the law and the unrefuted factual assertions of the DOT staff involved establish precisely the contrary.

On summary judgment, Ryan's reference to his then attorney's advice was hearsay that did not dispute the averments by DOT affiants that DOT had not been obligated to and had not taken control of the barge. R12:2-3, R15:3.

At the remedies hearing, Ryan's then attorney did testify in support of that advice, but he cited no supporting law and produced no evidence of any agreement or action by DOT to store the barge for or otherwise take control of the barge from Ryan. R90:91-92, 95; R91:10-11. As the court found, "Everything was preliminary negotiations. Marcuvitz got out of the case, for whatever reason he never reached—in his testimony he never reached a final

conclusion. He had his view of what should happen and—but it never got finalized." R91:69; R-Ap.125.

In sum, Ryan proffered neither law nor evidence to dispute that the barge was not eligible for any relocation assistance and that DOT never assumed storage, or otherwise took control, of the barge in 2005/2006.

B. Ryan provided no expert testimony to refute the State's expert testimony on summary judgment that the removal of two light-weight trucks and the cutting of slack cables from the trucks to the barge in October 2005 could not have caused the barge to sink in July 2006.

Ryan argues that DOT caused the barge to sink when its contractor cut the cables connecting the barge to two vehicles that were removed pursuant to a court order in the eminent domain action. The circuit court in its August 2008 Order rejected that argument, because Ryan proffered no expert affidavits to refute the State's expert affidavits showing that cutting the visibly slack cables connected to two small trucks too light to hold up the barge (which was anchored by spuds and filling with water), did not cause the barge to sink nine months later. R36:1-3; R-Ap.101-103; R14:2-3; R15:3.

The court heard additional testimony about the trucks and the cables at the remedies hearing in October 2009, as a potential mitigating factor pertaining to forfeitures. R89, R90, R91. At that hearing, Ryan's expert testified from photographs, just as the State's expert had, because the barge had already sunk and only photographs remained of the trucks and the cables. R89:48; R90:111-112.

The testimony and photographs at the hearing showed that, consistent with the DOT expert affidavits, the cables were <u>inoperative</u> and only <u>one</u> set of chains was connected to <u>one</u> light truck with no winching capacity to support the barge, and the barge sank at a slant consistent with its being somewhat tethered to the shore. *See* counsel's summation of this evidence at R91:55-56. Even as a potential mitigating factor, Ryan's blaming DOT's cutting of <u>non-functioning</u> cables and <u>one</u> set of chains from <u>one</u> light-weight truck with 12,500 pounds towing capacity and no winching capability nine months before the 200-ton barge sank at an angle into the river, was defeated by the actual facts. *See* R90:62-63, 69, 128, 130, 134, 136-137.

Ryan's expert testified that pumping water out of the barge was necessary to keep it afloat, R90:123, and Ryan said he told DOT to empty the barge of water (Ryan Br.14-15), which no DOT witness could recall (R91:16). Regardless, it was Ryan's responsibility to tend to the barge and to keep it from filling up with water, not DOT's. And Ryan could have asked DOT to access the barge to do so. R89:11-12; R-Ap.172-173; Ryan Br.36.

C. Ryan proffered no evidence to refute the evidence showing his personal liability for the sunken barge.

In its decision partially granting and denying the State's first summary judgment motion, the court stated:

If, in fact, it is established that Mr. Ryan is the controlling principal of the corporate entities (assuming personal ownership cannot be established), I agree that Mr. Ryan is liable pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes sec. 30.292(1) and (2)(a)... Absent proof of individual ownership or individual control of the day to day operations of the potential corporate owners, the basis of personal liability is still in material dispute.

R29:3; P-Ap.46.

The court had found that Ryan or one of his corporate entities was the barge's owner and possessor at the time the barge sank and since, as a matter of judicial estoppel. As directed by the court, the State subsequently produced evidence showing that Ryan or one of his corporate entities, also <u>controlled</u> the barge from at least 2005, based on the undisputed facts that he was a controlling officer (as president or managing officer or managing partner) of the businesses named as owners of the barge in *State v. 260 N. 12<sup>th</sup> St.*, Milwaukee County Case No. 05-CV-5593, and that he had individual control of the day-to-day operations of those corporate entities. R31-34.

Ryan proffered no evidence in response to refute his personal liability except for self-serving assertions in his affidavit that he was merely a shareholder and employee (R24:1; P-Ap.31), contrary to corporate documents and, most importantly, to statements in his prior deposition.

The circuit court properly relied on prior deposition testimony, corporate documents and DOT affidavits showing that B.E. Ryan Enterprises and Ryan Marina own the barge, that Ryan is a controlling and principal officer of those entities, and that Ryan was the only person acting on behalf of those and his other corporate entities in their day-to-day operations, to find Ryan personally liable for the sunken barge.

1. As a principal who controlled the day-to-day operations of the corporate entities in possession and control of the barge, Ryan was liable for compliance with environmental laws.

The basis for personal liability is found both in the statutes and in case law. The statutory basis is found in Wis. Stat. §§ 30.15 and 30.292 (emphasis added):

### 30.15 . . .

- (1) ... Any <u>person</u> who does any of the following shall forfeit not less than \$10 nor more than \$500 for each offense:
- (a) Unlawfully obstructs any navigable waters and thereby impairs the free navigation thereof. . . .

. . . .

(d) Constructs or places any structure or deposits any material in navigable waters in violation of s. 30.12 or 30.13.

#### 30.292 . . .

- (1) Whoever is concerned in the commission of a violation of this chapter for which a forfeiture is imposed is a principal and may be charged with and convicted of the violation . . . .
- (2) A <u>person</u> is concerned in the commission of the violation if the person does any of the following:
  - (a) Directly commits the violation.

Under environmental protection statutes that make a person who commits a certain act liable for violating the statutes, as Wis. Stat. §§ 30.10(2) (obstructing a river

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